
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No.: 12-cv-1364

TERESA FEKANY, and
COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado nonprofit organization,

On behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

v.

ARAPAHOE COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES,

Defendant.
______________________________________________________________________________

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
______________________________________________________________________________

Plaintiffs, Teresa Fekany and Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”), by and

through undersigned counsel, hereby bring this Class Action Complaint against the Arapahoe

County Department of Human Services (“Department” or “ACHS”) for violations of the

Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and Section 504 of the

Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“Section 504”), 29 U.S.C. § 794, et seq., and the Colorado

Consumer Protection Act (“CCPA”), Colo. Rev. Stat. § 6-1-101, et seq. 

Introduction

1. On July 26, 1990, now more than twenty years ago, the ADA was passed,

establishing the most important civil rights law for people with disabilities in the nation’s

history.

2. The ADA was passed to ensure people with disabilities, including those who are
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deaf, are not discriminated against, in part, by government entities when they administer their

programs, services and activities.  42 U.S.C. § 12132.

3. Title II of the ADA applies to public entities, such as the Department.

4. Congress determined that “discrimination against individuals with disabilities

persists in such critical areas as . . . communication . . . and access to public services[,]”  42

U.S.C. § 12101(a)(3), and “individuals with disabilities continually encounter various forms of

discrimination, including . . . the discriminatory effects of . . . communication barriers . . . and

relegation to lesser services, programs, activities [and] benefits[.]”  42 U.S.C. § 12101(a)(5).

5. In 1973, Section 504 was passed to ensure entities who receive federal financial

assistance do not discriminate against individuals with disabilities, including those who are deaf,

in the provision of their programs, services and activities. 

6. The Department receives federal financial assistance to administer welfare

benefits programs such as those involved in this case.

7. Both laws require that when the Department provides its services to individuals

who are deaf, it ensures that the individual is provided with appropriate “auxiliary aids and

services” -- such as qualified sign language interpreters -- to ensure effective communication and

an equal opportunity to participate in the Department’s programs.

8. The CCPA makes it unlawful to represent that a person is a “sign language

interpreter” unless the person holds a current certification from the registry of interpreters for the

deaf.  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 6-1-707(1)(e).  Doing so is a deceptive trade practice and violations can

result in civil as well as criminal penalties.
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9. The Department uses employees who are not certified interpreters to

communicate with deaf individuals and represents that they are “qualified sign language

interpreters.” 

10. Plaintiff Teresa Fekany is deaf and receives services from the Department.

11. Despite Plaintiff Teresa Fekany’s specific requests for a certified, qualified sign

language interpreter to assist her so she could understand the forms she was required to fill out,

the Department refused to provide such an interpreter and then tried to force Ms. Fekany to

attend meetings with its staff with a non-certified interpreter.  The Department employee it

represents is a sign language interpreter possesses no interpreting certification as required under

Colorado law.  The Department used this person to interpret a meeting at which Ms. Fekany’s

benefits were at issue.

12. Plaintiff CCDC, a disability rights advocacy organization, requested records

showing the Department’s policies regarding providing qualified sign language interpreters and

about the qualifications of the alleged employee interpreter.

13. As a result of these requests, CCDC determined the Department has no policies

requiring its employees to ensure certified, qualified interpreters are available when deaf

individuals need to communicate with Department employees.

14. The Department’s lack of appropriate policies requiring employees to ensure that

certified, qualified interpreters are available when deaf individuals need to communicate with

Department employees, and the Department’s insistence on using uncertified, unqualified

employees to communicate with deaf individuals affects each and every deaf individual seeking
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benefits from the Department, including Ms. Fekany and other CCDC members.

15. Plaintiffs seek a court order compelling the Department to comply with the ADA,

Section 504 and the CCPA and provide Ms. Fekany with certified, qualified interpreters.

16. Plaintiffs seek monetary damages against the Department.

17. Plaintiffs seek recovery of their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

18. Plaintiffs will request the court certify a class action in this case to ensure

compliance with the ADA, Section 504 and the CCPA for all deaf clients the Department serves.

Jurisdiction and Venue

19. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims in this action pursuant to 28

U.S.C. § 1331 and 1343 and pursuant to its pendent jurisdiction over claims brought under the

laws of the State of Colorado.

20. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

Parties

21. Teresa Fekany is and was at all times material to the facts in this case a resident

of Colorado.  

22. Ms. Fekany is deaf and is an individual with a disability as defined by the ADA. 

23. Ms. Fekany is an individual with a disability qualified to receive services from the

Department under Section 504.  

24. Ms. Fekany is a consumer of the Department’s programs, services and activities.  

25. Ms. Fekany is qualified to receive the services she has been provided by the

Department.  
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26. Ms. Fekany is a CCDC member.  

27. Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) is a Colorado non-profit

corporation whose members are persons with disabilities and their non-disabled allies.

28. Many CCDC members live in Arapahoe County, Colorado.

29. Many CCDC members who live in Arapahoe County, Colorado utilize or attempt

to the Department’s programs, services and activities.

30. Defendant Department is the agency of Arapahoe County, Colorado established

pursuant to Colo. Rev. Stat. § 26-1-115.  Arapahoe County is a legal entity established pursuant

to Title 30 of the Colorado Revised Statutes and the Colorado Constitution, Article XIV.  The

Department has the duties prescribed under Colo. Rev. Stat. § 26-1-118.  

31. The Department provides financial assistance and protective services to eligible

children, families and elderly and disabled adults in Arapahoe County, Colorado.  

32. The Department has several divisions -- the Community Support Services

Division, the Child Support Enforcement Division (“CSE”), the Children, Youth and Family

Services Division, and administers programs including but not limited to Temporary Assistance

to Needy Families (“TANF”), Food Stamps, Medicaid, Low-Income Energy Assistance Program

(“LEAP”).  

Facts

33. Plaintiff Fekany resides in Arapahoe County, Colorado.

34. Plaintiff Fekany has applied for and/or received the following services from the

Department: TANF, LEAP, Food Assistance, Colorado Works and Medicaid.
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35. Plaintiff Fekany continues to receive services from the Department.

36. Plaintiff Fekany has two minor children, ages six and three.

37. In 2010, Plaintiff Fekany applied for and began receiving Colorado Works, TANF

and Food Assistance.

38. Department employees have been aware Plaintiff Fekany is deaf from the time of

her application.

39. Department records show the Department’s employees working with Ms. Fekany

were aware Ms. Fekany is deaf since, at least, August of 2011.

40. Plaintiff Fekany is not proficient in reading or writing the English language.

41. Plaintiff Fekany uses American Sign Language (“ASL”) to communicate.

42. ASL and English are different languages.

43. Ms. Fekany communicates best with hearing persons using a sign language

interpreter and American Sign Language (“ASL”).

44. Plaintiff Fekany uses a videophone as a telecommunications device at home.

45.  A videophone is a telephone with a video display, capable of simultaneous video

and audio for communication between people in real-time.  A deaf individual and a hearing

individual may use a videophone to communicate with each other using a video relay service

that employs sign language interpreters.

46. Because of her lack of English language proficiency, Plaintiff Fekany had

difficulty understanding the many forms she was required to fill out to remain eligible for the

ACHS programs.
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47. On information and belief, in August of 2011, the Department’s CSE division

mailed a child support intake packet to Ms. Fekany. 

48. On information and belief, on August 15, 2011, Department employee Kevin

Lake sent Plaintiff Fekany a letter enclosing paperwork to be completed in order to continue

receiving financial benefits.  

49. The August 15, 2011 letter threatened to terminate benefits for failure to complete

and return the paperwork within seven days.  

50. The August 15, 2011 letter instructed Plaintiff Fekany to contact the Department

“if you are in need of translator services.”  

51. Plaintiff Fekany contacted the Department by videophone and explained she did

not understand the paperwork she received from ACHS in August of 2011 and wanted to meet

with someone at ACHS with a qualified sign language interpreter to discuss the paperwork.

52. The Department employee she spoke with told her the Department would not

schedule an appointment.  The Department employee informed Ms. Fekany that a Department

employee could answer her questions on a videophone call.  Ms. Fekany requested to schedule a

face-to-face meeting with a sign language interpreter.  Ms. Fekany tried to explain

communication is more effective face-to-face with a sign language interpreter.

53. On August 24, 2011, Plaintiff Fekany went to the Department’s offices and met

with Christian Maddy, who was the Department’s CSE Supervisor.

54. Mr. Maddy knew in advance of the August 24, 2011 meeting Ms. Fekany was

deaf.
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55. Department employees knew in advance of the meeting that Ms. Fekany

requested a sign language interpreter.

56. The Department did not provide an interpreter at the August 24, 2011 meeting.

57. Department employees attempted to communicate with Ms. Fekany using

handwritten notes.

58. In one of the notes at the August 24, 2011 meeting, Plaintiff Fekany wrote to Mr.

Maddy, “I need interpeter [sic] sign to make appt.”  

59. In another one of the notes during the August 24, 2011 meeting, Plaintiff Fekany

went on to explain the reason she required an interpreter specifically:

If a person come in for appt for some reason like formal letter I got.  I don’t
understand those works.  Sign Language use transtor [sic] help me understand
what letter means to me.  It will help me better what all about. . . I don’t want any
misunderstood each other.  It will help full for interpeter [sic] signs.  Better
communicate. 

60. A Department employee wrote to Ms. Fekany:

I will need to research and make arrangements for an Interpreter.  ADA allows for
other means of communication, such as writing and TTY.  Colorado Relay is an
option (7-1-1).  If you must have an Interpreter, I will need your phone number to
set up an appointment.”

61. In handwritten notes, Ms. Fekany responded: “yes.  ADA like TTY.”

62. In handwritten notes, Ms. Fekany provided her video phone number and wrote,

“That is not tty. it is direct phone w/ viedo [sic] phone.  Like third party.  You need call CDOR

Government.”  “They can set up sent interpreter here.”

63. In handwritten notes, Ms. Fekany wrote, “I need interpreter sign to make appt. by
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law. “ (Emphasis provided by Ms. Fekany.)

64. Handwriting notes was not an effective form of communication for Ms. Fekany at

the meeting with Mr. Maddy.

65. In her handwritten notes, Ms. Fekany tried to explain the law required the

Department to provide a sign language interpreter.

66. Ms. Fekany left the meeting without an understanding of how to fill out the

paperwork she was sent by the Department.

67. On November 1, 2011, Department Child Support Enforcement Services

employee Clare Pak sent Ms. Fekany a letter informing her that a meeting had been scheduled

for November 4, 2011 at 11:00 a.m. to complete her intake paperwork. 

68. The November 1, 2011 letter stated that Ms. Pak had “already set up a Sign

Language Interpreter for that day to assist you completing the documents.”

69. The November 1, 2011 letter also said, “Failure to cooperate could result in

sanctions and the loss of all or part of your tanf benefits.”

70. Plaintiff Fekany went to the November 4, 2011 meeting.  

71. A woman, later identified as Diane Ward, was also in attendance on November 4,

2011, with Ms. Pak and Ms. Fekany.  

72. The Department told Plaintiff Fekany Ms. Ward was a sign language interpreter.

73. At the November 4, 2011 meeting, Plaintiff Fekany attempted to communicate

with Ms. Ward using ASL.

74.  Ms. Ward’s ability to communicate using ASL was ineffective on November 4,
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2011.

75. Ms. Fekany could not understand much of Ms. Ward’s attempts at using ASL.

76.  At the November 4, 2011 meeting, Plaintiff Fekany was able to inform the

Department that she wanted a “certified interpreter.”

77. As set forth below, Colorado law makes claiming a person is a “sign language

interpreter” an unlawful deceptive trade practice unless the person has a certification from the

Registry of Certified Interpreters (“RID”) or its successor organization.  See Colo. Rev. Stat. § 6-

1-701(1)(e).

78. Colorado law also requires that an RID “membership card that shows proof of

current membership and certification shall be made available for immediate inspection and

review by any consumer or agent of the state of Colorado.”  Id.

79. According to its website, “RID is a national membership organization

representing the professionals who facilitate communication between people who are deaf or

hard of hearing and people who hear.”  See http://www.rid.org/aboutRID/index.cfm (last

accessed on May 23, 2012).  “RID’s function is to support our membership by providing the

foundation needed to launch and sustain careers while ensuring quality service to the Deaf

community.”  Id.   “RID Certification Programs strive to maintain strict adherence to nationally

recognized testing industry standards of validity, reliability, equity and legal defensibility.”  Id.

80. RID-certified interpreters must possess a certain level of skill and qualifications

and pass a test demonstrating their skills and qualifications before becoming certified.

81. During the November 4, 2011 meeting, Ms. Fekany was able to ask Ms. Ward if
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she was a certified interpreter.

82. Ms. Ward informed Ms. Fekany she was not a certified interpreter.

83. Plaintiff Fekany could not continue with the November 4, 2011 meeting because

she was unable to communicate effectively using ASL with the Department and Ms. Ward.  

84. Plaintiff Fekany remained willing to meet with the Department if and when the

Department provided with a qualified, RID-certified interpreter.

85. On November 15, 2011, Christian Maddy, Intake and Customer Service

Supervisor at the Department, sent Plaintiff Fekany a letter that stated:

I have reviewed the Americans with Disabilities Act and can find no requirement
that department provide a “certified” interpreter, merely one that is qualified.  I
feel that we have met that standard by making a reasonable accommodation by
providing an interpreter and that obtaining a “certified” interpreter would be an
undue hardship upon my organization.

86. The November 15, 2011 letter informed Plaintiff Fekany of an appointment

scheduled with “our interpreter” on November 22, 2011.

87. The November 15, 2011 letter threatened to terminate benefits for failure to attend

a November 22, 2011 appointment. 

88. On information and belief, on November 17, 2011, CSE Division Manager Bob

Prevost contacted Plaintiff Fekany on her videophone.

89. During the November 17, 2011 video relay call, Plaintiff Fekany informed Mr.

Prevost that she was unable to attend the November 22, 2011 meeting because of holiday plans.  

90. During the November 17, 2011 video relay call, Mr. Prevost instructed Plaintiff

Fekany to contact the Department at a later date to reschedule the meeting.
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91. On information and belief, on January 5, 2012, Clare Pak contacted Plaintiff

Fekany on her videophone.

92. Plaintiff Fekany recognized that Ms. Pak was the person who had scheduled Ms.

Ward as an “interpreter” for the November 11, 2011 meeting.

93. Plaintiff Fekany informed  Ms. Pak that should only wanted to work with Mr.

Prevost, who she believed was a supervisor.

94. In January of 2012, Plaintiff became a member of CCDC and retained

undersigned counsel.

95. On January 26, 2012, Plaintiff CCDC sent a letter to Clare Pak requesting “copies

of any and all records related to Ms. Fekany’s case with the [Department], including, but not

limited to, all written correspondence, applications for services, requests for sign language

interpreters, attendance at meetings, etc.”  This request enclosed a release of information signed

by Plaintiff Fekany allowing Plaintiff CCDC permission to receive such records.  

96. On January 26, 2012, Plaintiff CCDC sent a request for records pursuant to the

Colorado Open Records Act.  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-72-200.1, et seq.  The January 26, 2012 letter

specifically requested:

a. Any and all documents and/or policies relating to the provision of sign language

interpreters for persons receiving services from DHS. 

b. Any and all documents and/or policies relating to the provision of

telecommunications devices for the deaf for persons receiving services from

DHS.
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c. Any and all records from January 2000 through the present day relating to a

person who is deaf or hard of hearing requesting the assistance of a sign language

interpreter while receiving services from DHS.

d. Any and all records from January 2000 through the present day relating to a sign

language interpreter being provided to a person who is deaf or hard of hearing

who is receiving services from DHS.

e. Any and all records from January 2000 through the present day relating to a deaf

inmate requesting any auxiliary aids and services as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12103

other than a sign language interpreter while receiving services from DHS.

f. Any and all records from January 2000 through the present day relating to any

auxiliary aids and services as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12103 other than a sign

language interpreter being provided by DHS to a deaf person receiving services

from DHS.

97. On February 28, 2012 counsel for the Department responded to the Colorado

Open Records Act request by providing the following documents:

a. “Reasonable Accommodation/Effective Communication with Persons with

Disabilities” policy

b. “Reasonable Accommodation in Arapahoe County” brochure

c. “Reasonable Accommodations” statement 

98. None of the documents provided indicate policies directing the Department to

provide qualified sign language interpreters or how.
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99. None of the documents provided indicate policies directing the Department to

provide certified sign language interpreters or how.

100. In its response to the January 26, 2012 request, counsel for the Department stated

the documents provided were a “full and complete” response to that request.

101. On March 12, 2012, counsel for Plaintiff sent a second request for records

pursuant to the Colorado Open Records Act.  The March 12, 2012 request specifically requested

“all records and writings pertaining to the identity and qualifications of any person who has

provided sign language interpretation, or acted in any way as a sign language interpreter, for

Teresa Fekany.”  This request enclosed a release of information signed by Plaintiff Fekany

allowing Plaintiff CCDC permission to receive such records. 

102. On March 23, 2012, counsel for the Department responded to the March 12, 2012

Colorado Open Records Act Request by identifying Diane Ward, Supervisor of the Family

Empowerment Program with the Arapahoe County Department of Human Services.

103. The March 23, 2012 response stated that no records existed regarding the

qualifications of Ms. Ward.  

104. On information and belief, Ms. Ward is not certified by the National Registry of

Interpreters for the Deaf.

105. Ms. Ward did not provide effective communication for Plaintiff Fekany during

her Appointment on November 4, 2011 meeting.

106. Undersigned counsel proposed a settlement of Plaintiff Fekany’s ADA and

Section 504 claims on April 3, 2012.
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107. Counsel for the Department requested up to May 4, 2012 to respond Undersigned

counsel agreed.

108. While Plaintiff awaited a response, on April 10, 2012, Joelle Morrison, Human

Services Investigator, sent Plaintiff Fekany a letter informing her of a meeting scheduled for

April 23, 2012 at 9:30 a.m. to discuss her case.

109. The April 10, 2012 letter stated that Ms. Morrison had “scheduled a certified

interpreter to be here for the interview[.]”  

110. On April 10, 2012 Ms. Morrison left Plaintiff Fekany a message using a video

relay service informing her of the meeting scheduled for April 23, 2012.  

111. Because the issue of the Department ensuring effective communication for

Plaintiff Fekany were yet unresolved, undersigned counsel sent a letter to counsel for the

Department on April 11, 2012 requesting any investigations meetings be postponed until after

the Department’s anticipated May 4 response.  Department counsel agreed. 

112. The Department’s conduct set forth in this Complaint demonstrates the

Department failed to take appropriate steps to provide deaf clients communication that is as

effective as that provided to hearing clients.

113. Defendants’ conduct set forth in this Complaint demonstrates the Department

fails to provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services to its deaf clients.

114. Only in the face of threatened litigation has the Department considered its

obligations to provide Plaintiff Fekany with required effective communication.

115. The Department’s failure to take steps necessary to afford deaf clients legally
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required services provides no assurance to deaf clients that their rights will be protected.

116. Defendant refused to provide Teresa Fekany with a sign language interpreter at

their first meeting.

117. Defendant continues to refuse to provide adequate assurances to Teresa Fekany

that she will be provided effective communication during meetings with the Department.

118. The Department’s lack of policies and training regarding the requirements of the

ADA and Section 504 resulted in Teresa Fekany being denied effective communication.

119. The Department’s conduct makes it far more likely that other deaf clients it serves

will not be provided with appropriate auxiliary aids and services. 

120. CCDC’s mission statement is the following: “CCDC advocates for social justice

for people with all types of disabilities.”  

121. CCDC’s purpose is to promote independence, self-reliance, and full participation

for people with all types of disabilities, and to combat discrimination against individuals with

disabilities, through advocacy, education, research and training.  As a part of that purpose,

CCDC seeks to ensure that individuals who are deaf do not encounter discrimination in

participating in government services, including the Department’s CSE, TANF, Colorado Works

and Food Assistance programs.

122. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts

to promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities.  This effort and

this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by Defendant’s’ violations of the

ADA and Section 504.
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123. Defendant’s’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable and

perceptible injury to CCDC.  Those injuries include, but are not limited to, those described

herein.

124. CCDC has devoted resources, which could have been devoted to its other

outreach, advocacy, and educational efforts, to communicating with Defendant in an attempt to

secure accessible services, activities and programs.

125. CCDC has devoted resources, which could have been devoted to its other

outreach, advocacy, and educational efforts, to educate members and others who have been

injured by Defendant’s’ discrimination.

126. Defendant’s discrimination has been and continues to be a barrier to the full

participation of persons with disabilities and, therefore, frustrates CCDC’s ability to achieve full

inclusion for persons with disabilities.  For example:

a. Defendant’s discrimination, in and of itself, denies equal access to Defendant’s 

programs, services and activities to people who are deaf; and

b. Defendant’s actions send the message that such discrimination continues to be

acceptable at this time.

127. Defendant’s discrimination has required and continues to require CCDC to make

a greater effort -- and to allocate significant resources -- to educate the public that such

discrimination is wrong and otherwise to counteract the adverse impact of such discrimination. 

This perceptibly impairs CCDC’s counseling, advocacy, educational, and training missions.

128. CCDC also has devoted and continues to devote resources -- including but not
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limited to those devoted to its CORA requests related to this case and the present lawsuit -- to

identifying and counteracting the sources of discrimination in the community, including that of

Defendant.

129. CCDC’s injuries -- including, without limitation, those described herein -- are

traceable to Defendant’s discriminatory conduct alleged in this Complaint and will be redressed

by the relief requested in it.

130. CCDC’s members include deaf individuals who require the Department’s

services. 

131. CCDC’s members have been injured and will continue to be injured by

Defendant’s discrimination described above.

132. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of Defendant, is at the core of

CCDC’s organization purpose.

133. The participation of individual CCDC members in the lawsuit is not required

either to resolve the claims at issue or to formulate relief.

Class Action Allegations

134. The Department has discriminated against and continues to discriminate against

deaf individuals as set forth more fully in this Complaint.

135. The Department lacks appropriate policies requiring its employees to provide

appropriate auxiliary aids and services, specifically including qualified, certified sign language

interpreters, to deaf individuals.

136. The Department has utilized and continues to utilize its employees, who are not
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RID certified, as sign language interpreters.

137. The Department identifies its uncertified employees as sign language interpreters

to deaf individuals.

138. The Department fails to ensure that its communications with deaf individuals are

as effective as its communications with hearing individuals.

139. On information and belief, deaf individuals other than Plaintiff Fekany have been

denied effective communication with Department employees by the Department.

140. Ms. Fekany and CCDC seek to maintain this action as a class pursuant to Rule

23(b)(2), Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, with two subclasses:

a. All past and future deaf clients of Arapahoe County Department of Human

Services whose rights under Title II of the ADA, Section 504 of the

Rehabilitation Act, within two years prior to the filing of this Complaint, have

been violated or whose rights will be violated as a result of the Department’s

policies, procedures and/or practices regarding the provision of appropriate

auxiliary aids and services to deaf clients.

b. All past and future deaf clients of Arapahoe County Department of Human

Services who, within three years prior to the filing of this Complaint, have been

subjected to deceptive trade practices in violation of the Colorado Consumer

Protection Act as a result of the Department representing non-RID-certified

interpreters are sign language interpreters.

141. The classes identified are believed to consist of tens of members, and joinder of
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all such class members in this lawsuit is impracticable.

142. The Department has identified, utilized and continues to utilize Ms. Ward as a

sign language interpreter for Ms. Fekany and other members of the class.

143. The Department has represented Ms. Ward is a sign language interpreter and

continues to represent Ms. Ward is a sign language interpreter.

144. Ms. Fekany’s claims, as the proposed class representative, are typical of the

claims of the first subclass.  Ms. Fekany, like all other members of the subclass, is deaf,

requested a sign language interpreter from the Department for her communications with the

Department, and the Department did not provide Ms. Fekany with an interpreter.

145. Ms. Fekany's claims, as the proposed class representative, are typical of the

claims of the second subclass.  Ms. Fekany, like all other members of the subclass, is deaf,

requested a certified sign language interpreter from the Department for her communications with

the Department, and the Department did not provide Ms. Fekany with a certified sign language

interpreter.

146. Ms. Fekany will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the classes, as she

has retained counsel with extensive experience in litigation, including class action litigation.

147. Ms. Fekany has no interest that conflict in any way with those of the classes.

148. The Department’s failure to provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services for

communications with deaf individuals applies to all members of the first subclass.

149. The Department’s failure to provide certified sign language interpreters for

communications with deaf individuals applies to all members of the second subclass.
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150. The question of whether the Department’s failure to ensure effective

communication with deaf individuals violates the ADA and Section 504 is common to the first

subclass.

151. The question of whether the Department’s failure to provide certified sign

language interpreters for deaf individuals violates the CCPA is common to the second subclass.

152. The question of whether the Department’s utilization and identification of

uncertified employees as sign language interpreters violates the CCPA is common to the second

subclass.

153. The Department’s failure to take steps to ensure communications with deaf clients

is as effective as communications with hearing clients applies generally to the second subclass. 

Injunctive or declaratory relief, therefore, is appropriate respecting the subclass as a whole.

154. The Department’s failure to provide certified sign language interpreters, and the

Department’s identification and utilization of Ms. Ward as a sign language interpreter applies

generally to the second subclass.  Injunctive or declaratory relief, therefore, is appropriate

respecting the subclass as a whole.

First Claim for Relief
(Violations of the ADA)

155. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations

set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein.

156. Title II of the ADA provides in pertinent part: “[N]o qualified individual with a

disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the
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benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subject to discrimination

by any such entity.”  42 U.S.C. § 12132.

157. Defendant Department is a public entity within the meaning of the ADA.  42

U.S.C. § 12131(1)(A).

158. Plaintiff Fekany is a individual with a disability qualified to receive services from

Defendant.  42 U.S.C. § 12131(2).

159. Other CCDC members are individuals with disabilities qualified to receive

services from Defendant.

160. All members of the proposed first subclass are individuals with disabilities

qualified to receive services from Defendant.

161. The ADA empowers the Attorney General to promulgate regulations to

implement Title II.  42 U.S.C. § 12134.

162. Under the ADA, the Department of Justice has promulgated regulations

specifically addressing nondiscrimination on the basis of disability in “Communications.”  28

C.F.R., pt. 35, subpart E. 

163. The Department is required to “take appropriate steps to ensure that

communications with applicants, participants, members of the public, and companions with

disabilities are as effective as communications with others.”  28 C.F.R. § 35.160(a)(1).

164. The Department failed to take appropriate steps, e.g., the development and

implementation of appropriate policies and the provision of training to Department employees, to

ensure communication with Plaintiff Fekany and other members of the proposed class are as
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effective as communications with others.

165. The Department is required to “furnish appropriate auxiliary aids and services

where necessary to afford individuals with disabilities, including applicants, participants,

companions, and members of the public, an equal opportunity to participate in, and enjoy the

benefits of, a service, program, or activity of a public entity.”  28 C.F.R. § 35.160(b)(1).

166. The Department refused to provide Ms. Fekany with an appropriate auxiliary aid

or service.

167. On information and belief, the Department has refused to provide other deaf

individuals with appropriate auxiliary aids and services.

168. The Department’s policies regarding providing auxiliary aids and services are

likely to result in failures to provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services to members of the

proposed first subclass, including Ms. Fekany, in the future.

169. The U.S. Department of Justice regulations explain, “the type of auxiliary aid or

service necessary to ensure effective communication will vary in accordance with the method of

communication used by the individual; the nature, length, and complexity of the communication

involved; and the context in which the communication is taking place.” 28 C.F.R. §

35.160(b)(2); however, “[i]n determining what types of auxiliary aids and services are necessary,

a public entity shall give primary consideration to the requests of individuals with disabilities.” 

Id. (Emphasis added.)

170. The Department failed to give primary consideration to Plaintiff Fekany’s choice

of auxiliary aid and service.
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171. On information and belief, the Department has failed to give primary

consideration to the choices of other members of the proposed first subclass who have requested

a sign language interpreter.

172. According to the regulations of Title II of the ADA, the law “does not require a

public entity to take any action that it can demonstrate would result in a fundamental alteration in

the nature of a service, program, or activity or in undue financial and administrative burdens.” 

28 C.F.R. § 35.164.

173. “In those circumstances where personnel of the public entity believe that the

proposed action would fundamentally alter the service, program, or activity or would result in

undue financial and administrative burdens, a public entity has the burden of proving that

compliance with this subpart would result in such alteration or burdens. The decision that

compliance would result in such alteration or burdens must be made by the head of the public

entity or his or her designee after considering all resources available for use in the funding and

operation of the service, program, or activity and must be accompanied by a written statement of

the reasons for reaching that conclusion.”  Id. 

174. On information and belief, Christian Maddy is not the head of the Department.

175. Providing Ms. Fekany and other members of the proposed class with a qualified 

sign language interpreters will not fundamentally alter the services, programs, or activities

provided by the Department to Ms. Fekany and other members of the proposed class, or result in

undue financial and administrative burdens to the Department.

176. Title II of the ADA “does not invalidate or limit the remedies, rights, and

24

Case 1:12-cv-01364   Document 1   Filed 05/24/12   USDC Colorado   Page 24 of 31



procedures of any other Federal laws, or State or local laws (including State common law) that

provide greater or equal protection for the rights of individuals with disabilities or individuals

associated with them.”  28 C.F.R. § 35.103(b).

177. Colorado law makes it unlawful and a deceptive trade practice to represent a

person is a “sign language interpreter” or “qualified sign language interpreter” unless such

person holds a certification from the registry of interpreters for the deaf.  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 6-1-

707(1)(e).

178. Plaintiff Fekany requested that she be provided a certified sign language

interpreter, and the Department refused to provide one.

179. On information and belief, other members of the proposed class requested that

they be provided with sign language interpreters, and the Department refused to provide them.

180. Plaintiff Fekany is currently required to meet with the Department to subject

herself to a fraud investigation alleged by the Department.

181. On information and belief, Defendant’s fraud allegations are unsubstantiated.

182. The actions of the Department provide no assurance to Plaintiff Fekany that she

will be provided with a certified sign language interpreter.

183. Plaintiff Fekany will need to meet with and communicate with Department staff

in the near future.

184. Other members of the proposed class will need to meet with and communicate

with Department staff in the near future.

185. Unless the Department is enjoined from failing to comply with the ADA, Plaintiff
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Fekany and other members of the proposed class will not be provided appropriate auxiliary aids

and services.

186. Unless the Department is enjoined from failing to comply with the ADA, the

Department will fail to give primary consideration to the requests of Plaintiff Fekany and other

members of the proposed class regarding auxiliary aids and services.

187. Plaintiff Fekany and other members of the proposed class have been damaged,

injured and harmed by the Department’s failure to comply with the ADA.

188. Plaintiff CCDC has been damaged, injured and harmed by the Department's

failure to comply with the ADA.

189. CCDC is an entity with a relationship or association with an individual with a

disability and have been harmed by the Department’s unlawful conduct. 

190. CCDC members are individuals with disabilities, and are qualified to participate

in the services, programs, activities and benefits of the Department’s programs within the

meaning of Title II of the ADA.

191. Unless this Court orders the relief sought herein, Plaintiff Fekany and other

members of the proposed class will continue to be damaged, injured and harmed by the

Department’s failure to comply with the ADA.

Second Claim for Relief
(Violations of Section 504)

192. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations

set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein.
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193. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794(a), provides in

pertinent part:

No otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States . . . shall,
solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be
denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or
activity receiving Federal financial assistance.

194. Defendant Department receives federal financial assistance.  

195. In addition, the Department’s Colorado Works, TANF, Medicaid and Child

Support Enforcement programs constitute the operations of “a department, agency, special

purpose district, or other instrumentality of a State or of a local government[.]”  29 U.S.C. §

794(b)(1)(A).

196. Plaintiff Fekany is a qualified individual with a disability and has been subjected

to discrimination by the Department, as described in this Complaint, solely on the basis of her

disability.

197. Members of the proposed first subclass are qualified individuals with disabilities

who have been subjected to discrimination by the Department, as described in this Complaint,

solely on the basis of their disabilities.

198. Such discrimination includes the failure to provide appropriate auxiliary aids and

services.  

199. CCDC is an entity with a relationship or association with an individual with a

disability and have been harmed by the Department’s unlawful conduct. 

200. CCDC members are individuals with disabilities, and are qualified to participate

27

Case 1:12-cv-01364   Document 1   Filed 05/24/12   USDC Colorado   Page 27 of 31



in the services, programs, activities and benefits of the Department’s programs within the

meaning of Section 504.

201. Defendant Department and its agents acted intentionally and with a reckless

disregard for Plaintiffs’ civil rights, and those of the members of the proposed class.

202. Plaintiffs and members of the proposed first subclass have been injured, damaged

and aggrieved by and will continue to be injured, damaged and aggrieved by the Department’s

unlawful conduct.

Third Claim for Relief
(Violation of the CCPA)

203. Under the CCPA, “A person engages in an unlawful deceptive trade practice

when such person [c]laims to be a sign language interpreter . . . unless he or she holds a current

certification issued by the registry of interpreters for the deaf or a successor organization. A

registry of interpreters for the deaf, or successor organization, membership card that shows proof

of current membership and certification shall be made available for immediate inspection and

review by any consumer or agent of the state of Colorado.  Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 6-1-105(1)(x) &

6-1-707(1)(e).

204. Defendant represents its employee Diane Ward is a “sign language interpreter”

and a “qualified sign language interpreter.”

205. Ms. Ward does not possess a current certification issued by the registry of

interpreters for the deaf.

206. On information and belief, Ms. Ward has never possessed a certification from the
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registry of interpreters for the deaf.

207. The Department identified and attempted to utilize Ms. Ward as a sign language

interpreter for its communications with Ms. Fekany.

208. On information and belief, the Department identified and continues to identify

Ms. Ward as a sign language interpreter.

209. On information and belief, the Department utilized and continues to utilize Ms.

Ward as a sign language interpreter in its communications with other members of the proposed

class.

210. Because Defendant claims Ms. Ward is a “sign language interpreter,” it engages

in an unlawful deceptive trade practice under Colo. Rev. Stat. § 6-1-707(1)(e).

211. The CCPA authorizes a civil action for damages “for any claim against any

person who has engaged in or caused another to engage in any deceptive trade practice listed in

[the CCPA.]”  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 6-1-113(1). 

212. Plaintiff Fekany has been damaged, injured and harmed by the Department’s

failure to comply with the CCPA.

213. Plaintiff Fekany will continue to be damaged, injured and harmed by the

Department’s failure to comply with the CCPA.

214. Other members of the proposed class have been and will continue to be damaged,

injured and harmed by the Department’s failure to comply with the CCPA in the absence of the

injunction sought herein.

Prayer for Relief
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray:

215. That this Court assume jurisdiction;

216. That this Court issue an Order declaring Defendant to be in violation of Section

504, Title II of the ADA and the CCPA;

217. That this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendant to provide certified,

qualified sign language interpreters and other appropriate auxiliary aids or services in order to

ensure effective communication with deaf individuals;

218. That this Court certify the proposed subclasses pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23;

219. That this Court award Plaintiffs’ damages;

220. That this Court award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

221. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable.

JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiffs request this case be heard by a jury.
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Dated: May 24, 2012 Respectfully Submitted,

/s/ Kevin W. Williams
Kevin W. Williams
Andrew C. Montoya
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, Colorado 80203
Phone: (303) 839-1775
Facsimile: (720) 210-9819
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org
E-mail: amontoya@ccdconline.org

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Address of Plaintiff Teresa Fekany:

15859 E. Jamison Drive
Apartment 16106
Englewood, CO 80112

Address of Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition:

655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
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